
 

 

Scrutiny Homes 
Sub-Committee 
Agenda 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Councillors Leila Ben-Hassel (Chair), Joseph Lee (Vice-Chair), 

Kola Agboola, Adele Benson, Claire Bonham, Danielle Denton and 
Ellily Ponnuthurai 
 

 Reserve Members: Sue Bennett, Richard Chatterjee, Amy Foster, 
Humayun Kabir, Tamar Nwafor and Nikhil Sherine Thampi 
 

 
A meeting of the Scrutiny Homes Sub-Committee which you are hereby 
summoned to attend, will be held on Monday, 5 December 2022 at 6.30 pm in 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX  
 
Katherine Kerswell 
Chief Executive 
London Borough of Croydon 
Bernard Weatherill House 
8 Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA 

Simon Trevaskis 
Senior Democratic Services & Governance 
Officer – Scrutiny 
simon.trevaskis@croydon.gov.uk  
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings 
25 November 2022 

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, or you can view the 
webcast both live and after the meeting has completed at 
http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk 
 
If you would like to record the meeting, we ask that you read the guidance on the 
recording of public meetings here before attending. 
 
The agenda papers for all Council meetings are available on the Council website 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
 
If you require any assistance, please contact Simon Trevaskis as detailed above.  
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:simon.trevaskis@croydon.gov.uk
http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk/
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/documents/s20730/Recording%20Guidance.pdf
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings


 

 

AGENDA – PART A 
  

1.   Apologies for absence  
 To receive any apologies for absence from any members of the 

Committee. 
  

2.   Disclosures of Interest  
 Members are invited to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests 

(DPIs) and other registrable and non-registrable interests they may have 
in relation to any item(s) of business on today’s agenda. 
  

3.   Urgent Business (if any)  
 To receive notice of any business not on the agenda which in the 

opinion of the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, be considered 
as a matter of urgency. 
  

4.   Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Updating the Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy (Pages 5 - 18) 

 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee is asked: - 

1.               To note the report due considered by the Mayor at the 
Cabinet meeting on 7 December 2022.  

2.               To consider whether there are any recommendations or 
observation arising from the Sub-Committee’s consideration 
of the report to the submit for the consideration of the Mayor 
at the Cabinet meeting. 

  
5.   Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Distribution of the Household Support Fund 

Grant  
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee is asked: - 

1.     To note the report due considered by the Mayor at the Cabinet 
meeting on 7 December 2022.  

2.     To consider whether there are any recommendations or 
observation arising from the Sub-Committee’s consideration of 
the report to the submit for the consideration of the Mayor at the 
Cabinet meeting. 

Report to follow. 
 
 
 

  



 

 

3

6.   Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Report by the Monitoring Officer under 
section 5A of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 - 
Finding of Fault with Maladministration and Injustice (Pages 19 - 
38) 

 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee is asked to note the report due 
considered by the Mayor at the Cabinet meeting on 7 December 2022. 
  

7.   Work Programme 2022/23 (Pages 39 - 42) 
 The Homes Sub-Committee is asked to: -  

1.              Note the most recent version of its Work Programme, as 
presented in the report.  

2.              Consider whether there are any other items that should 
be provisionally added to the work programme as a result 
of the discussions held during the meeting. 

  
8.   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 The following motion is to be moved and seconded where it is proposed 
to exclude the press and public from the remainder of a meeting: 
 
“That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.” 
 

PART B 
 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: 
 

Homes Sub-Committee 
5 December 2022      

SUBJECT: 
 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Updating the Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Strategy 

LEAD MEMBER: 
 

Councillor Lynne Hale, Deputy Mayor & Cabinet 
Member for Homes 

LEAD OFFICER Susmita Sen, Corporate Director of Housing 
PUBLIC/EXEMPT: 
 

Public 

 
ORIGIN OF ITEM: Pre-decision scrutiny of reports due to be considered by 

the Mayor in Cabinet is one of the key roles for Scrutiny.  
BRIEF FOR THE 
COMMITTEE: 

The Scrutiny and Overview Committee is asked: - 
1. To note the report due considered by the Mayor at 

the Cabinet meeting on 7 December 2022.  
2. To consider whether there are any 

recommendations or observation arising from the 
Sub-Committee’s consideration of the report to the 
submit for the consideration of the Mayor at the 
Cabinet meeting. 

1. UPDATING THE HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY 

1.1. At the Cabinet meeting to be held on 7 December 2022 the Executive 
Mayor, Jason Perry, will be considering the ‘Updating the Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping Strategy’ report which can be found attached at Appendix A.  

1.2. The report is presented to the Homes Sub-Committee in advance of the 
Cabinet to give the opportunity for pre-decision scrutiny. The Sub-Committee 
is asked consider whether there are any recommendations or observations 
arising from its consideration of the report that it wishes to submit for the 
consideration of the Mayor at the Cabinet meeting. 

 
CONTACT OFFICER:   
 
Simon Trevaskis – Senior Democratic Services & Governance Officer – Scrutiny 
 
Email: simon.trevaskis@croydon.gov.uk 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Cabinet Report – Updating the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

mailto:simon.trevaskis@croydon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
REPORT TO: 
 

Cabinet  
7 December 2022   

SUBJECT: 
 

Updating the Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy  

LEAD OFFICER:  
 Susmita Sen, Corporate Director of Housing 

 
CABINET MEMBER: 
 

Councillor Lynne Hale, Cabinet Member for Homes  

WARDS: 
 

All 

  

SUMMARY OF REPORT:  

This report is being presented to Cabinet because producing a Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping Strategy is a statutory requirement for local authorities. 

The report sets out the Council’s approach to revising the existing Homelessness 
& Rough Sleeping Action Plan for 2023/2024, following guidance from DLUHC, 
and for undertaking a comprehensive review of homelessness in the Borough in 
developing a three year strategy from 2024/2025.   

The report also provides an update to Cabinet on the key actions that are 
proposed be taken by the Council and its partners to help prevent and address 
homelessness in 2023/2024.  

The revised Action Plan builds on progress to date and seeks to entrench activities 
already underway in this area, while also seeking to be more ambitious in key 
areas to further improve outcomes during 2023/24. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

The estimated cost to produce a revised Homelessness & Rough Sleeping 
Strategy is £135k across 2022/2023 and 2023/2024. This work is interlinked with 
the work to re-structure the Housing Directorate and drive savings of £1m. A 
transformation funding bid has been submitted and provisionally approved to fund 
this work based on the subsequent re-structure savings.  

KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO.:  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The Executive Mayor in Cabinet is recommended to:  

i. Approve the updated draft 2023/24 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy Action Plan (Appendix One) 

Page 7



ii. Note and approve the Housing Directorate’s plan to develop a revised 
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy, following a comprehensive 
review of homelessness in the Borough, which will set out the strategic 
direction for service delivery for 2024- 2027. 

 
1. BACKGROUND   

 
1.1 Under the Homelessness Act 2002, all housing authorities must have a 

homelessness strategy in place. The current draft Homelessness & Rough 
Sleeping Prevention Strategy 2019- 2022 was informed by a homelessness 
review conducted in 2018. The Strategy was presented to Cabinet in 
October 2019 where delegated authority was given to the Cabinet Member 
to recommend the updated Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Prevention 
Strategy to full Council for adoption once the outcome of the consultation 
has been considered.  
 

1.2 Consultation was held in early January 2020 with broad support for the 
proposed pledges and outcomes from internal and external stakeholders. 
However, the Strategy was not presented to full Council for reasons 
including the Section 114, the Covid-19 pandemic, and the resulting 
pressures from the ‘Everyone In’ scheme, Ukrainian/Afghan re-settlement, 
and the lack of a discrete Housing Directorate. 

 
1.3 Following guidance from DLUHC, a revision of the Strategy action plan has 

been undertaken to ensure the Council has a strategic direction on how the 
homeless service is delivered pending the development of a revised 
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy to be undertaken in 2024. 

 

2. RESPONDING TO THE LEVELS OF HOMELESSNESS IN THE 
BOROUGH 

 

2.1 The Council anticipates an increased number of homeless applicants in the 
borough due to the cost-of-living crisis. Analysis by Crisis of the ‘worst-case 
scenario’ suggests that “at least 1.7 million renting households on the lowest 
incomes will be spending on average 133% of their monthly income on rent, 
food and energy in January [2023], pushing many to the brink of 
homelessness”. As such, the Council anticipates the demand for 
homelessness services to increase in the next quarter. The draft Action Plan 
will ensure that homelessness services are available to the most vulnerable 
residents during this crisis. Cabinet should note, however, that demand for 
homelessness services will continue to exceed the provision the Council is 
able to deliver.  
 

2.2 A high number of households are placed in Croydon from other local 
authorities which results in increased homelessness pressures in the 
Borough. In the last three years, a total of 10,933 homeless placements 
were made in the Borough: 

Page 8

https://www.crisis.org.uk/about-us/media-centre/cost-of-living-crisis-threatens-homelessness-surge-with-the-lowest-income-households-spending-133-of-their-monthly-income-on-rent-energy-and-bills/


 
Homelessness placements made in the Borough in the last three years 
Placed by the Council  41% 4483 
Placed by other local authorities  59% 6450 
Wandsworth  18.6% 2029 
Lambeth  11.1% 1219 
Sutton  9.7% 1065 
Other  19.6% 2137 

 

2.3 As an outer London borough, Croydon is considered a more cost-effective 
location to place homeless households. The Council notes, however, that 
improved adherence to the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 by the 
Housing Needs service would reduce the homelessness pressures on the 
Council. 

 

2.4 Available data indicates that the Council has missed opportunities to 
intervene earlier in homelessness cases. Recent benchmarking data shows 
that in 2020-21, Croydon was in the bottom quartile for performance in 
preventing homelessness at 27.7% compared to the London average of 
43.7%. At present the structure of the Housing Needs service does not 
support early intervention to prevent or relieve homelessness which will be 
addressed through the Housing Needs Re-Structure in Appendix One.  

 
2.5 The Council also anticipates an increased number of rough sleepers in the 

Borough due to the cost-of-living crisis. The number of rough sleepers in the 
current period can be quantified as follows: 

 

Borough Rough Sleeping Numbers (17/11/2022) 
Rough sleepers on any one night  20-25  
Per month (November) 45-65 
Q2 2022/2023  137  

 

2.6 The number of rough sleepers in the Borough in Q2 2022/2023 was the 
highest of all outer London boroughs. Each month approximately 10-12 
individuals refuse the Council’s offer of support at any one time, and the 
Council is currently developing a joint-working protocol to improve 
engagement (Appendix One). Benchmarking data for Q2 2022/2023 on 
neighbouring boroughs is available below. Cabinet should note that the 
number of rough sleepers in Croydon is closer to that of inner London 
boroughs. 
 
Total rough sleeping numbers by borough Q2 2022/2023 (CHAIN) 
Lambeth  215 
Southwark  157  
Croydon  137  
Lewisham  90  
Wandsworth 49  

Page 9



Bromley  29  
Merton  19  
Sutton  14 

 
2.7 Of the 137 rough sleepers identified in Q2 2022/2023, 48% were new rough 

sleepers with no second night out whilst only two new rough sleepers were 
recorded as having joined the living on the streets population. As such, the 
Council is successful in preventing individuals who are new to sleeping 
rough from living on the streets. 
 

3. UPDATING THE EXISTING HOMELESSNESS & ROUGH SLEEPING 
STRATEGY ACTION PLAN 
 

3.1 The updated Action Plan (Appendix One) is consistent with the focus on 
early intervention and prevention outlined in the 2019- 2022 Strategy and 
ensures there is a continued strategic direction for the delivery of the 
homelessness service pending the development of the revised 
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy.  

 
3.2 The Action Plan is aligned with the objectives of the Government's rough 

sleeping strategy  and the Council in addressing homelessness and rough 
sleeping. The Action Plan focuses on the following key priorities: 

 
• Embed the focus on preventing people from losing their homes and 

improving the number of prevention outcomes in service delivery 

• Focus activity on moving people out of temporary accommodation into 
suitable settled housing which will reduce reliance on higher cost, lower 
quality accommodation 

• Adopt a proactive approach towards alleviating and reducing rough 
sleeping in the Borough by providing an appropriate pathway into safe, 
secure accommodation for those rough sleeping through partnership 
working  

• Develop a cross-directorate joint-working protocol with internal and 
external partners to effectively support the minority of non-engaging 
rough sleepers in moving off the streets  

• Improve our strategic relationships with statutory and voluntary sector to 
address homelessness demand and supply including Registered Social 
Providers in the borough 

• Building on joint working with other partner agencies to ensure resources 
are focused on the most vulnerable households, for example our work 
with Public Health focusing resources on supporting people with 
substance misuse 

3.3 The delivery of the Action Plan will be monitored by the Housing 
Transformation Programme Steering Board which is chaired by the Cabinet 
Member for Homes and reports directly to CMT. 

 

Page 10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1102408/20220903_Ending_rough_sleeping_for_good.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1102408/20220903_Ending_rough_sleeping_for_good.pdf


3.4 The delivery of the revised Action Plan will be resourced through existing 
budgets and transformation funding secured. The revised Action Plan will 
also ensure the strategic procurement of services by the Rough Sleeping 
Commissioning team in 2023/2024 which is predominantly funded by the 
Rough Sleeping Initiative grant.  

 

3.5 There is widespread evidence that experiencing homelessness results in 
poor health outcomes. The Council recognises the importance of joint 
working between the Housing directorate and Public Health in addressing 
health issues, such as substance misuse, which can be prevalent amongst 
those experiencing homelessness. The Council has submitted a bid for 
funding to provide capacity and additional support to the Housing directorate 
in supporting individuals dealing with substance misuse issues and is 
awaiting the result of the award.   

 

4. DEVELOPING A REVISED HOMELESSNESS & ROUGH SLEEPING 
STRATEGY 

 
4.1 As required by legislation, the new Strategy will set out the plans for tackling 

homelessness and finding settled and sustainable housing solutions for 
those threatened with the prospect of losing their homes. 

 
4.2 The revised Strategy will address the pressures outlined in 2.0 through 

creating a sustainable Housing Needs service. A complete review of 
homelessness will be carried out to evaluate the current picture of 
homelessness in the Borough to evidence the conclusions drawn in 2.0 and 
forecast future pressures. The review will include:  

 
• levels of homelessness  

• preventing homelessness  

• securing accommodation  

• support provided and resources available  
 

4.3 The draft strategy will be formulated for consideration by Cabinet in 
2023/2024.A consultation on the objectives and actions of the draft strategy 
that the Council intends to publish will be carried out - involving other public 
and voluntary sector stakeholders and people with experience of 
homelessness/housing needs. 
 

4.4 Cabinet approval will be sought for the final draft strategy and action plan to 
be delivered over the next four years. This will dovetail with the Housing 
Strategy which will be presented to Cabinet in 2023.  

 

 
 
 

Page 11



5. FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 
 
5.1 The revision of the Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy 

action plan will not require additional financial resource and will be 
developed by existing Housing directorate staff.  

 
5.2 The full review of the Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy, 

to begin in early 2023, will be led by a Homelessness Strategy Lead and will 
take 15 months to March 2024. Funding of £135k has been requested to 
cover the costs of this appointment.  

 
5.3 Approved by  

 

6. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1 The Head of Litigation and Corporate Law comments on behalf of the 

Director of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer that under Section 1 of the 
Homelessness Act 2002 a local housing authority may from time to time 
carry out a homelessness review for their district and formulate and publish a 
homelessness strategy based on the results of that review. The authority 
must exercise that power so as to ensure that a new homelessness strategy 
for their district is published within 5 years of the date of publication of their 
last homelessness strategy.  

 
6.2 Under Section 3 of the Act, a homelessness strategy means a strategy for 

preventing homelessness in the district, securing that sufficient 
accommodation is and will be available for people in their district who are or 
may become homeless, securing the satisfactory provision of support for 
people in the district who are or may become homeless, or who have been 
homeless and need support to prevent them becoming homeless again.  

 

6.3 In formulating or modifying a homelessness strategy, the authority must 
have regard to its current allocation scheme, its current tenancy strategy, the 
current London housing strategy, and the extent to which objectives can be 
achieved by other public bodies, voluntary organisations etc. Before 
adopting or modifying a homelessness strategy, the authority must consult 
such public or local authorities, voluntary organisations or other persons as 
they consider appropriate. 

 

6.4 A homelessness strategy may include specific objectives to be pursued, and 
specific action planned to be taken in the course of the exercise of their 
housing and social services functions. The authority must keep their 
homelessness strategy under review, and may modify it from time to time, 
and the modifications or the strategy as modified must also be published.   

 

6.5 In carrying out a homelessness review, and in developing the revised 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, the authority must have regard 

Page 12



to the code of practice issued by the Secretary of State under Section 214a 
of the Housing Act 1996- Homelessness code of guidance to local 
authorities.  

 

6.6 Approved by Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation and Corporate Law on 
behalf of the Director of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer. 

 

7. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT 
 
7.1 There are no immediate human resources impacts arising from the updating 

of the Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy action plan as 
this work will be undertaken by existing staff resource. However, there will be 
impacts associated with the development and delivery of the revised 
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy beginning in 2023. If 
any issues should arise these will be managed under the Council’s policies 
and procedures.  

 
7.2 Approved by Jennifer Sankar, Head of HR for Housing and SCRER, for and 

on behalf of Dean Shoesmith, Chief People Officer 
 

8. EQUALITIES IMPACT 
 
8.1 The transformation of the Housing Directorate must champion inclusion 

through the services it provides to residents, and inclusion of our diverse 
resident communities will be central to the training and support offered to 
staff.  

 
8.2 The Council has a statutory duty to comply with the provisions set out in the 

Equality Act 2010. In summary, the Council must in the exercise of all its 
functions, “have due regard to” the need to comply with the three aims of the 
general equality duty. These are to 

 
• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any 

other conduct prohibited by the Act  

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and people who do not share it; and  

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it 

 

8.3 Having due regard means to consider the three aims of the Equality Duty as 
part of the process of decision-making. This means that decision makers 
must be able to evidence that they have taken into account any impact of the 
proposals under consideration on people who share the protected 
characteristics before decisions are taken.  

 

Page 13



8.4 Regard for the Council’s public sector equality duty will be central to the 
delivery of the updated Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Prevention 
Strategy action plan and revised Strategy. The development of a Strategy 
which reflects the needs of protected characteristic groups in the Borough 
will be enabled through an increased focus on collecting equalities detail as 
part of the Housing Transformation Programme.  

 

8.5 Improving data collection from service users across the nine protected 
characteristics will benefit decision making by ensuring that decisions are 
based on clear evidence. Departments will also evidence service user 
satisfaction and dissatisfaction using this method across the protected 
characteristics to ensure that the Council is delivering a fair and equitable 
service to all protected groups.  

 

8.6 Poor housing conditions and perceptions of unfair treatment are likely to 
exasperate existing mental health conditions or create new mental health 
conditions. In particular, when exasperated by other socio-economic impacts 
such as poverty, unemployment, and the cost-of-living crisis. It is important 
that residents are treated in a fair, respectful, and equitable manner to 
ensure that existing or new conditions are not triggered by behaviour of staff 
or suppliers. It is important that staff training reflects this.  

 

8.7 Residents with disabilities or parents of children with disabilities may be 
treated more favourably than others in relation to housing improvements. 
This will not amount to discrimination in relation to the Equality Act 2010.  

 

8.8 The Council will also encourage its suppliers to adopt the Council’s 
standards for equality in the borough: Croydon’s Equalities Pledge and the 
George Floyd Race Matters Pledge. 

 

8.9 Approved by  
 

9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
 
9.1 The updated Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy action plan has no 

direct environmental impacts.  
 
9.2 Approved by Susmita Sen, Corporate Director of Housing 
 

10. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT 
 
10.1 There are no crime prevention and reduction implications as a result of the 

recommendations in this report.  
 
11 DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 

Page 14



 
11.1 WILL THE SUBJECT OF THE REPORT INVOLVE THE PROCESSING  
 OF ‘PERSONAL DATA’? 

 
No, as the report does not contain sensitive or personal data  

 
 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Susmita Sen, Corporate Director for Housing  
 
 
 

Page 15



APPENDIX ONE  
 
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy: updated action plan 2023 
The draft Action Plan for the Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy is 
focused on key actions to be achieved in 2023 

Theme  Transformation 
Action 

Associated Outcome/Aim  Lead  

Early 
intervention and 
prevention  

Data Cleanse   Improve the accuracy of data for 
government returns to ensure the 
Council's full receipt of the 
Homelessness Prevention Grant  

 Head of 
Homelessness  

Early 
intervention and 
prevention  

Housing Needs 
Re-Structure  

Complete and implement a new 
structure for the Housing Needs 
service to ensure we work 
effectively with our partners to 
prevent homelessness and 
manage demand  

 Heads of 
Service 

Early 
intervention and 
prevention  

Housing Needs 
Re-Structure  

Develop and implement a 
performance management 
framework that focuses on 
continuous service 
improvements 

 Heads of 
Service  

Make effective 
use of 
temporary 
accommodation  

Discretionary 
Case Review  

Complete the review of 
discretionary cases in temporary 
accommodation to reduce the 
cost to the general fund by 
moving them into alternative 
settled accommodation  

Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

Make effective 
use of 
temporary 
accommodation  

Data Cleanse   Improve the accuracy of data on 
households in temporary 
accommodation to ensure the 
number of families in temporary 
accommodation for an extended 
period of time are monitored  

 Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

Make effective 
use of 
temporary 
accommodation  

Occupancy 
Checks  

Carry out occupancy checks to 
ensure the accommodation is 
occupied by homeless 
households placed by the 
Council to meet housing duty. 

Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

Maximise the 
supply of 
affordable 
accommodation 

Housing 
Association 
partnership 

Develop and build relationships 
with Registered social landlords 
in the borough to ensure we are 
getting our full allocation of 
nominations to maximise the 
number of homes available to 
residents  

Head of 
Allocations 

Maximise 
income streams 

Income 
collection 

Ensure that we collect all income 
due in emergency and temporary 
accommodation 

Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

Page 16



Improve 
standards and 
management of 
temporary 
accommodation  

Dynamic 
Purchase 
System 

Ensure best value for money 
through effective contract 
Improve and property 
compliance of the emergency 
accommodation portfolio  

Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

Improve 
standards and 
management of 
our 
accommodation  

Supported 
Housing Review 

To undertake a review of 
supported housing to identify 
need, commission the right 
accommodation and ensure 
value for money  

 Corporate 
Director for 
Housing  

Provide support 
to those most in 
need  

Housing Needs 
Restructure  

Ensure resources are focused on 
the most vulnerable households 
who are at risk of homelessness 

Head of 
Homelessness  

Provide support 
to those most in 
need  

Discretionary 
Case Review  

Ensure resources are focused on 
the most vulnerable households 
living in emergency & temporary 
accommodation  

Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

Provide support 
to those most in 
need  

Occupancy 
Checks  

Undertake visits to households in 
temporary accommodation to 
carry out welfare checks and 
refer/signpost to relevant support 
agencies 

Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

Tackling rough 
sleeping  

Rough sleeping Commission a rough sleeping 
outreach service to support 
rough sleepers off the streets. 

Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

Tackling rough 
sleeping  

Rough sleeping Deliver an effective No First 
Night Out approach  

Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

Tackling rough 
sleeping  

Rough sleeping Create 'Housing First' 
opportunities to end entrenched 
rough sleeping 

Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

Tackling rough 
sleeping  

Rough sleeping Establish a multi-agency 
approach and protocol, including 
working with the Police, Council 
ASB teams, and local 
businesses, to support non-
engaging rough sleepers and 
reduce ASB  

Head of 
Temporary 
Accommodation  

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: 
 

Homes Sub-Committee 
5 December 2022      

SUBJECT: 
 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Report by the Monitoring 
Officer under section 5A of the Local Government 

and Housing Act 1989 - Finding of Fault with 
Maladministration and Injustice 

LEAD MEMBER: 
 

Councillor Lynne Hale, Deputy Mayor & Cabinet 
Member for Homes 

LEAD OFFICER Susmita Sen, Corporate Director of Housing 
PUBLIC/EXEMPT: 
 

Public 

 
ORIGIN OF ITEM: Pre-decision scrutiny of reports due to be considered by 

the Mayor in Cabinet is one of the key roles for Scrutiny.  
BRIEF FOR THE 
COMMITTEE: 

The Scrutiny and Overview Committee is asked to note 
the report due considered by the Mayor at the Cabinet 
meeting on 7 December 2022.  

1. DISTRIBUTION OF THE HOUSEHOLD SUPPORT FUND GRANT  

1.1. At the Cabinet meeting to be held on 7 December 2022 the Executive 
Mayor, Jason Perry, will be considering the ‘Report by the Monitoring Officer 
under section 5A of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 - Finding 
of Fault with Maladministration and Injustice’ report which can be found 
attached at Appendix A.  

1.2. The report is presented to the Homes Sub-Committee in advance of the 
Cabinet for its information. 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:   
 
Simon Trevaskis – Senior Democratic Services & Governance Officer – Scrutiny 
 
Email: simon.trevaskis@croydon.gov.uk 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Cabinet Report – Report by the Monitoring Officer under section 5A of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 - Finding of Fault with 
Maladministration and Injustice 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6

mailto:simon.trevaskis@croydon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Croydon Council 

 

 
REPORT TO: CABINET  

7 December 2022     

SUBJECT: Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Report 
under section 30(1) of the Local Government Act 1974 

and 
 Report by the Monitoring Officer under section 5A of the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
Finding of Fault with Maladministration and Injustice 

 

LEAD OFFICER: Susmita Sen, Corporate Director of Housing   
 Hamid Khan, Head of Service, Housing  

and Stephen Lawrence-Orumwence Director of Legal 
Services and Monitoring Officer  

CABINET MEMBER: Councillor Lynn Hale   

WARDS: All 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:    
 
Total of £5,000 in compensation. This is broken down as follows: 
 
a payment of £300 a month for the period between January 2021 and April 2022 in 
recognition of the distress caused by living in overcrowded accommodation. Total - 
£4,800 
 
a payment of £200 for the time and trouble of having to complain to both the Council 
and the Ombudsman 
 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
The Executive Mayor in Cabinet is asked to: 

 
1.1. Consider the public interest report dated 23 June 2022 and the 

recommendations made by the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 
(LGSCO) in relation to Croydon Council set out in Appendix 1. 

 
The full list of recommendations can be found in section 6 of this report.   

 
1.2. Accept the findings and agree the recommendations set out in the public interest 

report;  
 
1.3. Endorse the actions taken by the Council and note the steps, progress and 

timeline to implement the recommendations set out in section 7 of this report. 
 

Page 21



1.4. Adopt the report as the Council’s formal response under section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 1974 to be communicated to the Ombudsman; and 

 
1.5. Adopt the report as the Executive’s formal response as required by section 5A of 

the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 for distribution to all members and 
the Monitoring Officer. 

 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

1.1. On 19th April 2022 the LGSCO wrote to the Chief Executive Katherine Kerswell 
to confirm that after consideration of a complaint they had received, they decided 
to issue their findings as a public interest report.  

1.2. The LGSCO consider six criteria when deciding whether to issue a public interest 
report, these are: 

• Recurrent faults (for example, the organisation keeps making similar 
mistakes) 

• Significant fault, injustice or remedy (by scale or the number of people 
affected) 

• Non-compliance with an Ombudsman’s recommendation (it has not agreed 
or has not carried out their recommendations) 

• A high volume of complaints about on subject 

• A significant topical issue 

• Systemic problems and/or wider lessons (for example, problems with how 
the organisation does things that if not put right are likely to affect others, 
and this is an opportunity for others to learn). 

1.3. In this case the reasons for issuing the report are: 

• The significance of the fault, injustice or remedy 

• A significant topical issue 

• Systemic problems and/or wider lessons (for example, problems with how 
the organisation does things that if not put right are likely to affect others, 
and this is an opportunity for others to learn). 

1.4. This report also contains the statutory report of the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
which is triggered as a result of the contents of the LGSCO report and outlines 
the Council’s statutory response required. 

3. BACKGROUND 

3.1. The complainants who shall be referred to as Miss X complained the Council 
failed to provide her with suitable accommodation after it accepted a duty to           
house her in 2014 and has not given her the correct priority under its housing            
allocation scheme. Miss X said that the Council should have found permanent 

Page 22



accommodation for her by now and that the temporary accommodation it has 
provided is not suitable. As a result, she said she is living in overcrowded 
housing and this is affecting her mental health. Miss X wanted the Council to 
provide her with suitable accommodation. 

3.2 The LGSCO report confirmed that the following failings had been identified: 

• The Council failed to properly review the suitability of the temporary 
accommodation it provided for Miss X after she told it her circumstances 
had changed; 

• The Council failed to consider referring Miss X to its Children’s Services 
team for support; and 

• The Council failed to consider whether the overcrowding in Miss X’s 
property was an environmental health risk to Miss X or her children. 

3.3 As a result of the failings identified Miss X and her children have been living in             
unsuitable, overcrowded temporary accommodation since January 2021. This             
has caused them significant stress and impacted their wellbeing. 

4 CHRONOLOGY OF THE COMPLAINT 

1.5. What follows is a brief case chronology. It does not contain all the information 
reviewed during the investigation. 

1.6. Miss X applied to the Council as homeless in 2013. At the time she applied,          
Miss X was a single person with no children. The Council accepted it owed            
Miss X the main housing duty and placed her in a studio flat as temporary            
accommodation in early 2014. Miss X also joined the Council’s choice based            
letting scheme and the Council placed her in band 3. 

1.7. Between 2014 and 2017, Miss X had two children. With the help of a housing            
adviser, she asked the Council to review the suitability of the temporary            
accommodation in 2017. The Council decided the accommodation was still            
suitable, and there is no evidence Miss X used her right to appeal this decision            
in court. 

1.8. Between 2017 and 2021, Miss X had two further children. She complained to  
the Council in early 2021 that: 

▪ it had not yet given her a permanent home; 

▪ the temporary accommodation was too small for her and her four children; 
and 

▪ she should have higher priority under the Council’s choice based letting 
scheme. 

1.9. In her complaint, Miss X set out the difficulties sharing a single room with four            
children was causing both her and the children. She and her four children, 
including her new-born child, were all having to live and sleep in a single room. 

1.10. Miss X asked the Council to provide her with suitable accommodation. In its           
response to her complaint, the Council told Miss X that she had the correct          

Page 23



banding under its choice based letting scheme and that she should continue to           
bid on properties to find a permanent home. It also offered to help Miss X find           
private rented accommodation if she wished to consider this alternative. 

1.11. Miss X was not satisfied with the Council’s response, so she complained to us in 
July 2021. 

2. CONCLUSIONS 

2.1. What follows is a summary of the Ombudsman conclusions from the Final 
Decision report: 

2.2. The evidence shows the Council has correctly applied its allocations policy and            
has offered Miss X other options for permanent housing, which it says she has            
declined. We are satisfied there is no fault with how the Council has supported            
Miss X to find a permanent home. 

2.3. There is no evidence the Council ignored any relevant information about Miss            
X’s circumstances, and it has explained the reasons for its decision. Therefore, 
we are satisfied the Council has correctly applied its policy when deciding Miss            
X’s priority should be band 3. 

2.4. Given the changes reported by Miss X, and the significant effect her current 
accommodation was having on her and her family, the Council should have            
reviewed the suitability of the temporary accommodation. However, the Council            
has not provided any evidence it did so or that it asked Miss X for any further            
information or evidence about the impact her current accommodation was 
having. 

2.5. The Council has also not provided any evidence it considered the effect of            
living in the accommodation on Miss X’s children, considered whether it should            
refer Miss X to its Children’s Services team for other support or whether the            
overcrowding in the property represented an environmental health risk to Miss            
X and her family. 

2.6. In its response to our enquiries, the Council said it still considers the temporary            
accommodation to be suitable. However, it has not explained why it considers a            
one-bedroom studio flat to be suitable in light of its May 2021 decision that Miss            
X needs three bedrooms or that it has considered the other factors it should            
have done, such as whether Miss X’s home was legally overcrowded. In the            
absence of a proper decision-making process, we can decide what would have            
happened if a decision was made properly. 

2.7. On the balance of probabilities we are satisfied that, had the Council properly            
reviewed the suitability of Miss X’s temporary accommodation, it would have            
concluded that the accommodation was unsuitable. Miss X lives with four            
children in a single living space and has told the Council about the significant            
impact that this was having on her and her children’s welfare. According to the            
legal test Miss X’s property is overcrowded and the law requires the Council to            
consider this when deciding whether accommodation is suitable. 

 

 

Page 24



3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1. To remedy the injustice caused, the Ombudsman recommend the Councils take 
the following actions.  

3.2. Within one month of the date of this report to: 

3.3. Apologise to Miss X; 

3.4. Arrange suitable alternative temporary accommodation for Miss X; 

3.5. Pay Miss X £300 a month for the period between January 2021 and when it 
makes her an offer of suitable alternative temporary accommodation to 
recognise the distress caused by having to live in overcrowded accommodation 

3.6. Pay Miss X £200 for the time and trouble of having to complain to both the 
Council and Ombudsman 

3.7. Refer Miss X to its Children’s Services team to establish what additional support 
it can provide for Miss X and her children. 

3.8. Review its procedures for keeping the suitability of temporary accommodation 
under review to ensure it properly reviews suitability where there are relevant 
changes of circumstances; and 

3.9. Reviews its policy for referrals between its housing, children’s services and 
environmental health teams to ensure that it makes appropriate referrals where 
families with children may need support or are living in overcrowded 
accommodation. 

4. ACTIONS TAKEN BY CROYDON COUNCIL 

4.1. The council has accepted and acted on all recommendations.   

4.2. An apology has been issued  

4.3. The compensation payment of £5,000 has been made 

4.4. Miss X has been moved to alternative and more suitable accommodation 

4.5. A review of procedures for temporary housing reviews and joint working between 
services is being undertaken. 

5. LESSONS LEARNT, IMPROVEMENT AND PREVENTION 

5.1. Training to be provided to staff around suitability assessments. All LGO issues 
will be owned by the Head of Service. 

5.2. Early intervention at complaints stage of suitability issues, to stop them 
escalating.  

10. FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 

10.1.  The financial recommendations made by the LGSCO were: 

 £5,000 in respect of compensation.  

Page 25



10.2. This payment has been made in full.  

Approved by: Matthew Davis, Interim Director of Finance 

11. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 

11.1. Under the Local Government Act 1974 (the Act), the LGSCO has the power to 
investigate the complaint and to issue a report where there has been 
maladministration causing injustice; a failure to provide a service that it was the 
Council’s function to provide; and a total failure to provide such service. The 
LGSCO has the power to make recommendations to the Council on how to 
improve its services and to put things right for the complainant. However, these 
recommendations are not mandatory and the Council does not have to accept or 
follow them. 

11.2. Within 2 weeks of receiving the LGSCO’s report, the Council is required to give 
public notice by advertisements in newspapers stating that copies of the report 
will be available to inspect by the public at the Council’s offices for a period of 
three weeks (s.30 of the Government Act 1974).  

11.3. The Act provides that the report shall be laid before the “authority” for 
consideration. In the case of a local authority operating executive arrangements, 
“the authority” includes the executive which under current governance 
arrangements means the Directly Elected Mayor and Cabinet (s.25 (4) and (4ZA) 
Local Government Act 1974).  

11.4. Where a finding of ‘maladministration’ is made the Council’s Monitoring Officer is 
obliged to prepare a report for the Executive following the LGSCO findings and 
to consult with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer for this 
purpose. This report must also be sent to each member of the Council and the 
Executive must meet within 21 days thereafter. The implementation of the 
proposal or decision must be suspended until after the report has been 
considered by the Executive (s.5A Local Government and Housing Act 1989). 
The Executive is required to consider this Monitoring Officer report on the 
findings of and response to the LGSCO’s report.  

11.5. Where the Executive considers a LGSCO’s report and it is considered that a 
payment should be made or other benefit given to a person who has suffered 
injustice, such expenditure may be incurred as appears appropriate (s.31(3) 
Local Government Act 1974) 

11.6. Within 3 months of receiving the LGSCO’s report or such longer period as may 
be agreed in writing with the LGSCO, the Council must notify the LGSCO of the 
action which the Council have taken or propose to take (s.31(2) Local 
Government Act 1974). If the LGSCO is not satisfied with the action which the 
Council has taken or propose to take, the LGSCO shall make a further report. 
The LGSCO can also require the Council to make a public statement in any two 
editions of a newspaper circulating the area within a fortnight (s.31(2A) and (2D) 
Local Government Act 1974).  

11.7. An Ombudsman’s report should not normally name or identify any person (s.30 
Local Government Act 1974). Therefore, the complainant should be referred to 
as ‘Mr X’ and officers are not identified. 

Page 26



Approved by: Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation and Corporate Law for and on 
behalf of the Council’s Director of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer Stephen 
Lawrence-Orumwence. 

12. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT 

12.1. The recommendations in this report do not have any human resources 
implications. Following the completion of recommendations, the learning from the 
case will be fed back to practitioners and managers through existing learning and 
development activities within the department.  

13. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

13.1. The Council should pay due regard to section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 when 
exercising their functions. This includes having due regard to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty as detailed: 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and   
other conduct prohibited by the Act.(section 149(1)(a)) 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. (section 149(1)(b)) 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. (section 149(1)(c)) 

1.1. Section 149 involves the need to advance equality of opportunity between 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it. This requires organisations to undertake the following:  

• Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics. 

• Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where 
these are different from the needs of other people. 

12.3 Compliance with the equality duty may involve treating some people more 
favourably than others; but that is not to be taken as permitting conduct that 
would otherwise be prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010.This may be 
particularly important with Disabled people or parents of Disabled children.  

12.4 It would be useful for the department to seek clarity if a resident declares that 
they are experiencing mental health challenges. It would be necessary to 
determine whether the resident is disabled under Equality Act 2010.       

Approved by:  Denise McCausland – Equality Programme Manager  

14. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT  

14.1. There are no environmental impacts arising from this report 

Approved by: Steve Iles, Director of Sustainable Communities 

 

Page 27



15. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT 

15.1. I can confirm there are no community safety / crime and disorder comments 
needed for this report. 

Approved by: Kristian Aspinall, Director of Culture and Community Safety 

16. DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 

16.1. WILL THE SUBJECT OF THE REPORT INVOLVE THE PROCESSING OF     
‘PERSONAL DATA’? 

NO  

15.1 HAS A DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) BEEN 
COMPLETED? 

NO    

To comply with data protection requirements all personal details have been 
removed from the published report. 

 

 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:     Susmita Sen, Corporate Director of Housing 
   Kim Hyland, Complaints Resolutions 

Manager 
 
 
APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT: Appendix 1 – Full LGSCO Report 
 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:   None 
 
 

Page 28



Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
www.lgo.org.uk

Investigation into a complaint about
London Borough of Croydon
(reference number: 21 004 836)

23 June 2022

Report by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman

Page 29

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


    

Final report 2

Key to names used

Miss X The complainant

The Ombudsman’s role
For more than 40 years the Ombudsman has independently and impartially investigated 
complaints. We effectively resolve disputes about councils and other bodies in our 
jurisdiction by recommending redress which is proportionate, appropriate and reasonable 
based on all the facts of the complaint. Our service is free of charge.

Each case which comes to the Ombudsman is different and we take the individual needs 
and circumstances of the person complaining to us into account when we make 
recommendations to remedy injustice caused by fault. 

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they almost 
always do. Some of the things we might ask a council to do are:

 apologise

 pay a financial remedy

 improve its procedures so similar problems don’t happen again.

1. Section 30 of the 1974 Local Government Act says that a report should not normally 
name or identify any person. The people involved in this complaint are referred to by a 
letter or job role.

2.

3.

Page 30



    

Final report 3

Report summary

Housing - Homelessness
Miss X complained about the temporary accommodation the Council provided her 
family with while she is homeless and the priority it gave her for social housing.

Finding
Fault found causing injustice and recommendations made.

Recommendations
The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 
has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 
Council or Cabinet and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, 
section 31(2), as amended)

To remedy the injustice caused, the Council should:
• apologise to Miss X;
• arrange suitable alternative temporary accommodation for her and her family;
• pay Miss X £300 a month for the period between January 2021 and when it 

makes Miss X an offer of suitable alternative temporary accommodation to 
recognise the distress caused by having to live in overcrowded 
accommodation;

• pay Miss X £200 for the time and trouble of having to complain to both the 
Council and us; and

• refer Miss X to its Children’s Services team to establish what additional support 
it can provide for Miss X and her children.

To improve services to Miss X and other homeless families, the Council should:
• review its procedures for keeping the suitability of temporary accommodation 

under review to ensure it properly reviews suitability where there are relevant 
changes of circumstances; and

• review its policy for referrals between its housing, children’s services and 
environmental health teams to ensure that it makes appropriate referrals where 
families with children may need support or are living in overcrowded 
accommodation.

The Council has accepted our recommendations.

Page 31



    

Final report 4

The complaint
1. Miss X complained the Council failed to provide her with suitable accommodation 

after it accepted a duty to house her in 2014 and has not given her the correct 
priority under its housing allocation scheme. She said it should have found 
permanent accommodation for her by now and that the temporary 
accommodation it has provided is not suitable. As a result, she said she is living 
in overcrowded housing and this is affecting her mental health. She wanted the 
Council to provide her with suitable accommodation.

What we have investigated
2. We have considered events covered by Miss X’s complaint from July 2020 

onwards.
3. The final section of this report gives our reasons for not considering events before 

this.

Legal and administrative background
The Ombudsman’s role and powers

4. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this 
report, we have used the word ‘fault’ to refer to these. We must also consider 
whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the 
complaint. We refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused 
an injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 
26A(1), as amended)

5. We cannot question whether a council’s decision is right or wrong simply because 
the complainant disagrees with it. We must consider whether there was fault in 
the way the decision was reached. (Local Government Act 1974, section 34(3), as amended)

6. The Local Government Act 1974 sets out our powers but also imposes 
restrictions on what we can investigate.

7. We cannot investigate late complaints unless we decide there are good reasons. 
Late complaints are when someone takes more than 12 months to complain to us 
about something a council has done. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26B and 34D, as 
amended)

Homelessness and temporary accommodation
8. Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 and the Homelessness Code of Guidance for 

Local Authorities set out councils’ powers and duties to people who are homeless 
or threatened with homelessness.

9. If a council is satisfied an applicant is homeless, eligible for assistance, and has a 
priority need the council has a duty to secure that accommodation is available for 
their occupation (unless it refers the application to another housing authority 
under section 198). (Housing Act 1996, section 193 and Homelessness Code of Guidance 15.39)

10. The law says councils must ensure all accommodation provided to homeless 
applicants is suitable for the needs of the applicant and members of their 
household. This duty applies to interim accommodation and accommodation 
provided under the main homelessness duty. (Housing Act 1996, section 206 and (from 3 
April 2018) Homelessness Code of Guidance 17.2)

Page 32



    

Final report 5

11. When deciding if accommodation is suitable, the law says councils must consider 
several factors, including:
• the size of the property and whether it is legally overcrowded;
• affordability for the applicant;
• the location of the accommodation;
• the Council’s duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of any children living 

in the accommodation and their rights to an education;
• the Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities; and
• any relevant parts of the Council’s homelessness strategy.

12. The duty to ensure accommodation is suitable is an ongoing duty. Councils must 
keep the suitability of accommodation under review and respond to any relevant 
change in circumstances which may affect suitability, until such time as the 
accommodation duty is brought to an end. (Homelessness Code of Guidance 17.8)

Overcrowding in housing 
13. The law sets out tests to decide whether living accommodation is ‘overcrowded’. 

(Housing Act 1985, sections 324-326) 
14. A home is overcrowded if either:

• two people of the opposite sex aged over 10 and who are not living together as 
a couple have to sleep in the same room; or

• more people live in the property than the number or size of rooms in the 
property can accommodate under the rules.

15. For the second of these tests, the law says accommodation with a single room 
can accommodate two people.

16. When calculating the number of people for the second test, children under one 
year old do not count and children aged between one and ten years old count as 
half a person.

Housing allocations
17. Every local housing authority must publish an allocations scheme that sets out 

how it prioritises applicants, and its procedures for allocating housing. All 
allocations must be made in strict accordance with the published scheme. (Housing 
Act 1996, section 166A(1) & (14))

18. An allocations scheme must give reasonable preference to applicants in the 
following categories:
• homeless people;
• people in insanitary, overcrowded or unsatisfactory housing;
• people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds;
• people who need to move to avoid hardship to themselves or others; 

(Housing Act 1996, section 166A(3))

19. The Council operates a choice-based lettings scheme which allows housing 
applicants to bid for available properties which it advertises. Properties are 
allocated to the bidder who has held the highest priority for the longest time. The 
scheme has three levels of priority which include the following groups of people:

Page 33



    

Final report 6

• Additional preference – band 1: Members of the armed forces; people living 
in properties which cause a serious health hazard; people escaping violence, 
harassment or intimidation; people who need to move because of a serious 
health or disability need; people who have more bedrooms than they need and 
people who need to move because their home needs major renovation.

• Increased priority – band 2: Applicants who are working at least 16 hours a 
week; people engaged in training or education; foster carers; adoptive parents 
and people working with the Council to prevent their homelessness.

• Moderate priority – band 3: All other applicants who are entitled to a 
‘reasonable preference’.

20. We may not find fault with a council’s assessment of a housing application or a 
housing applicant’s priority if it has carried this out in line with its published 
allocations scheme.

How we considered this complaint
21. We produced this report after examining relevant documents and interviewing the 

complainant.
22. We gave the complainant and the Council a confidential draft of this report and 

invited their comments. We took any comments received into account before the 
report was finalised.

What we found 
What happened

23. Miss X applied to the Council as homeless in 2013. At the time she applied, 
Miss X was a single person with no children. The Council accepted it owed 
Miss X the main housing duty and placed her in a studio flat as temporary 
accommodation in early 2014. Miss X also joined the Council’s choice based 
letting scheme and the Council placed her in band 3.

24. Between 2014 and 2017, Miss X had two children. With the help of a housing 
adviser, she asked the Council to review the suitability of the temporary 
accommodation in 2017. The Council decided the accommodation was still 
suitable, and there is no evidence Miss X used her right to appeal this decision in 
court.

25. Between 2017 and 2021, Miss X had two further children. She complained to the 
Council in early 2021 that:
• it had not yet given her a permanent home;
• the temporary accommodation was too small for her and her four children; and
• she should have higher priority under the Council’s choice based letting 

scheme.
26. In her complaint, Miss X set out the difficulties sharing a single room with four 

children was causing both her and the children.
• She and her four children, including her new-born child, were all having to live 

and sleep in a single room.
• Neither Miss X nor her children had any private living space or the ability to 

spend any time alone.

Page 34



    

Final report 7

• These close living arrangements, particularly during the COVID-19 lockdowns, 
had caused both Miss X and her children severe stress and anxiety.

• Her eldest child had no quiet space to take part in online lessons or complete 
their schoolwork from home, which was affecting their education. 

• Miss X was also recovering from cancer, which had left her with physical 
weakness making it difficult to access her flat.

27. Miss X asked the Council to provide her with suitable accommodation.
28. In its response to her complaint, the Council told Miss X that she had the correct 

banding under its choice based letting scheme and that she should continue to 
bid on properties to find a permanent home. It also offered to help Miss X find 
private rented accommodation if she wished to consider this alternative.

29. Miss X was not satisfied with the Council’s response, so she complained to us in 
July 2021.

Analysis

Housing priority 
30. The Council last reviewed Miss X’s priority under its choice based letting scheme 

in May 2021, after Miss X told it she now had four children. The Council explained 
to Miss X it had correctly placed her in band 3, because she had a ‘reasonable 
preference’ because she was homeless but did not meet the requirements of the 
higher bands. However, it decided that she now needed, and could bid on, 
three-bedroom properties.

31. There is no evidence the Council ignored any relevant information about Miss X’s 
circumstances, and it has explained the reasons for its decision. Therefore, we 
are satisfied the Council has correctly applied its policy when deciding Miss X’s 
priority should be band 3.  

32. However, in response to our enquiries the Council has said it is continuing to 
review Miss X’s priority to see if it can award her increased preference on a 
discretionary basis.

Permanent housing
33. The law does not require councils to provide a permanent home for people to 

whom they owe the main housing duty. Councils can meet this duty by providing 
temporary accommodation. There is no limit on how long councils can provide 
someone with temporary accommodation, though most councils will seek to 
rehouse people as soon as possible.

34. We recognise the demand for social housing far outstrips the supply of properties 
in many areas. We will not usually find fault with a council for failing to re-house 
someone, if it has prioritised applicants and allocated properties according to its 
published lettings scheme policy.

35. The evidence shows the Council has correctly applied its allocations policy and 
has offered Miss X other options for permanent housing, which it says she has 
declined. We are satisfied there is no fault with how the Council has supported 
Miss X to find a permanent home.

Suitability of temporary accommodation
36. The duty to provide suitable accommodation is an ongoing duty and the Council 

must review this where it has reasons to believe that accommodation may no 
longer be suitable, for example, if an applicant’s circumstances change. 

Page 35



    

Final report 8

37. Given the changes reported by Miss X, and the significant effect her current 
accommodation was having on her and her family, the Council should have 
reviewed the suitability of the temporary accommodation. However, the Council 
has not provided any evidence it did so or that it asked Miss X for any further 
information or evidence about the impact her current accommodation was having. 

38. When Miss X told the Council she had four children in January 2021, she and her 
family counted as two and a half people under overcrowding rules. Miss X’s 
studio flat can house two people under those rules, so at this stage Miss X’s 
accommodation was overcrowded by half a person. When Miss X’s youngest 
child turned one year old in May 2021, Miss X’s home was overcrowded by one 
person.

39. The Council has also not provided any evidence it considered the effect of living 
in the accommodation on Miss X’s children, considered whether it should refer 
Miss X to its Children’s Services team for other support or whether the 
overcrowding in the property represented an environmental health risk to Miss X 
and her family. 

40. In its response to our enquiries, the Council said it still considers the temporary 
accommodation to be suitable. However, it has not explained why it considers a 
one-bedroom studio flat to be suitable in light of its May 2021 decision that Miss X 
needs three bedrooms or that it has considered the other factors it should have 
done, such as whether Miss X’s home was legally overcrowded. In the absence of 
a proper decision-making process, we can decide what would have happened if a 
decision was made properly.

41. On the balance of probabilities we are satisfied that, had the Council properly 
reviewed the suitability of Miss X’s temporary accommodation, it would have 
concluded that the accommodation was unsuitable. Miss X lives with four children 
in a single living space and has told the Council about the significant impact that 
this was having on her and her children’s welfare. According to the legal test 
Miss X’s property is overcrowded and the law requires the Council to consider this 
when deciding whether accommodation is suitable. 

Conclusions
42. The Council was at fault because it failed to:

• properly review the suitability of the temporary accommodation it provided for 
Miss X after she told it her circumstances had changed;

• consider referring Miss X to its Children’s Services team for support; and
• consider whether the overcrowding in Miss X’s property was an environmental 

health risk to Miss X or her children.
43. As a result, Miss X and her children have been living in unsuitable, overcrowded 

temporary accommodation since January 2021. This has caused them significant 
stress and impacted their wellbeing.

Recommendations
44. The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 

has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 
Council or Cabinet and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, 
section 31(2), as amended)

Page 36



    

Final report 9

45. In addition to the requirement set out above, the Council has agreed, within a 
month of the date of this report to:
• apologise to Miss X;
• arrange suitable alternative temporary accommodation for Miss X;
• pay Miss X £300 a month for the period between January 2021 and when it 

makes her an offer of suitable alternative temporary accommodation to 
recognise the distress caused by having to live in overcrowded 
accommodation;

• pay Miss X £200 for the time and trouble of having to complain to both the 
Council and us; and

• refer Miss X to its Children’s Services team to establish what additional support 
it can provide for Miss X and her children.

46. Within three months of the date of this report, the Council has agreed to:
• review its procedures for keeping the suitability of temporary accommodation 

under review to ensure it properly reviews suitability where there are relevant 
changes of circumstances; and

• reviews its policy for referrals between its housing, children’s services and 
environmental health teams to ensure that it makes appropriate referrals where 
families with children may need support or are living in overcrowded 
accommodation.

47. After we issued the draft of our report, the Council offered Miss X alternative 
temporary accommodation. If Miss X disagrees this accommodation is suitable for 
her needs, she can ask the Council for a review and, if necessary, appeal to the 
County Court.

Decision
48. We have completed our investigation into this complaint. There was fault by the 

Council which caused injustice to Miss X and her family. The Council should take 
the action identified in paragraphs 44 to 46 to remedy that injustice.

Parts of the complaint that we did not investigate
49. We have not investigated events before July 2020.
50. Miss X complained about issues from 2014, which is more than 12 months before 

her complaint to us in July 2021. Her complaint about events before July 2020 are 
therefore late.

51. We can only usually consider complaints where someone complains to us within 
12 months of something a council has done. Miss X has not given any reasons 
why she did not complain to us sooner about earlier problems with her housing. 
Therefore, we do not consider there are good reasons to consider those events 
now. 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: HOMES SCRUTINY SUB- COMMITTEE 
5 December 2022 

SUBJECT: WORK PROGRAMME 2022-23 

LEAD OFFICER:  
Simon Trevaskis - Senior Democratic Service and 

Governance Officer- Scrutiny 

ORIGIN OF ITEM: The Work Programme is scheduled for consideration 
at every ordinary meeting of the Health & Social Care 
Sub-Committee. 

BRIEF FOR THE COMMITTEE: The Homes Sub-Committee is asked to: -  

1. Note the most recent version of its Work 
Programme, as presented in the report.  

2. Consider whether there are any other items 
that should be provisionally added to the work 
programme as a result of the discussions held 
during the meeting. 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
1.1 This agenda item details the Sub-Committee’s work programme for the 

2022/23 municipal year. 
1.2 The Sub-Committee has the opportunity to discuss any amendments or 

additions that it wishes to make to the work programme. 
1.3 The Sub-Committee is able to propose changes to its work 

programme, but in line with Constitution, the final decision on any 
changes to any of the Committee/Sub-Committee work programmes 
rests with the Chairs & Vice-Chairs Group, following consultation with 
officers. 

2. WORK PROGRAMME 
2.1 The proposed work programme is attached at Appendix 1. 
2.2 Members are asked to note that the lines of enquiry for some items have yet to be 

confirmed and that there are opportunities to add further items to the work 
programme. 

  Additional Scrutiny Topics 
2.3 Members of the Sub-Committee are invited to suggest any other items that 

they consider appropriate for the Work Programme. However, due to the time 
limitations at Committee meetings, it is suggested that no proposed agenda 
contain more than two items of substantive business in order to allow 
effective scrutiny of items already listed. 
Participation in Scrutiny 

2.4 Members of the Sub-Committee are also requested to give consideration to 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



any persons that it wishes to attend future meetings to assist in the 
consideration of agenda items. This may include Cabinet Members, Council 
or other public agency officers or representatives of relevant communities. 

3 RECOMMENDATIONS 
The Sub-Committee is asked to: 

3.1 Note its work programme for the remainder of 2022-23, as set out in 
Appendix 1 of the report.  

3.2 Consider whether there are any changes to the work programme that need 
to be reviewed.   

 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Simon Trevaskis 
Senior Democratic Services and 
Governance Officer- Scrutiny 
020 8726 6000 x 63779 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: None 

 
 

APPENDIX 1:  Work Programme 2022/23 for the 
Homes Sub-Committee. 

 

Page 40



 

Appendix 1 

Homes Sub-Committee 

The below table sets out the working version of the Homes Sub-Committee work programme.  

Meeting 
Date 

Item Scope Directorate & Lead Officer 

Homelessness & 
Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2022-2024 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Cabinet consideration due on 7 December. 
Information on how the new strategy (2025-) will be written. 

Housing 
Susmita Sen 

5 
December 
2022 

Household Support 
Fund 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Cabinet consideration due on 7 December. 
 

Housing 
Susmita Sen 

HRA Business Plan & 
Rent Setting 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Cabinet consideration due on 22 February 
2023. 
HRA Rent Setting report due to Cabinet on 25 January  

Housing 
Susmita Sen 

Jan/Feb 
2023 – 
Date TBC 

Regina Road Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Cabinet consideration due on 22 February 
2023. 

Housing 
Susmita Sen 

 

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Updating the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
	Homelessness Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy December Draft Cabinet Paper

	6 Pre-Decision Scrutiny: Report by the Monitoring Officer under section 5A of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 - Finding of Fault with Maladministration and Injustice
	Appendix - Cabinet Report - Ombudsman Report
	Appendix to Ombudsman Report

	7 Work Programme 2022/23
	1.	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	2.	WORK PROGRAMME
	2.1	The proposed work programme is attached at Appendix 1.
	2.2	Members are asked to note that the lines of enquiry for some items have yet to be confirmed and that there are opportunities to add further items to the work programme.
	Additional Scrutiny Topics
	Participation in Scrutiny

	3	RECOMMENDATIONS
	The Sub-Committee is asked to:
	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:	None



